COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Appellant,

ν

JAMES HAMILITON,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General

LIANNE S. MALLOY, WSBA #15028 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION P.O. BOX 40124 OLYMPIA, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565 LianneM@atg.wa.gov

I. INTRODUCTION

The sole issue before the Court is whether the Department of Social and Health Services, Division of Child Support (DCS) should be required to pay James Hamilton's attorney fees arising from a child support dispute.

The underlying dispute started when Hamilton's teenage daughter B.H. ran away and began living with relatives. B.H. was supported by public assistance during this time and did not move back to her father's home for 4 ½ months. Hamilton was the legal custodian and knew where his daughter was living. He consented to B.H.'s living arrangement because he wanted B.H. to return voluntarily.

B.H's mother was required to pay child support to Hamilton under a prior court order. After B.H. left Hamilton's home, DCS kept the mother's support payments instead of distributing them to Hamilton, pursuant to RCW 26.23.035. This statute authorizes DCS to disburse child support to a caregiver other than the legal custodian, if the legal custodian consents to the living arrangement. Because B.H's relatives assigned B.H.'s right to support to the State when B.H. received public assistance, DCS retained the child support payments. *See* RCW 74.20,330; RCW 74.20A.030. Meanwhile, DCS had taken steps to establish Hamilton's child support obligation administratively. However,

the administrative proceedings ultimately were dismissed after repeated continuances to allow Hamilton to have his child support obligation decided in court instead.

The superior court ordered DCS to hand the child support it kept over to Hamilton because he was the legal custodian of B.H. The court ordered DCS to pay Hamilton \$12,000 in attorney fees under RCW 26.26.140. The court found that DCS's opposition to Hamilton's petitions and motions was frivolous under RCW 4.84.185 and that Hamilton had prevailed in a judicial review of agency action under RCW 4.84.350, even though the administrative action was dismissed before reaching the merits and no judicial review ever took place under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA).

DCS seeks to overturn the award of attorney fees in its entirety. The superior court acted outside its authority in awarding attorney fees. DCS's opposition to Hamilton's petition and motions was not frivolous, and none of the statutes cited authorize an award of attorney fees against DCS in this action.

///

///

///

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The superior court erred by entering the January 27, 2012, "Order Awarding Attorney Fees & Judgment," in which it awarded \$12,000 in attorney fees against DCS because it concluded: (a) fees were authorized under RCW 26.26.140; (b) DCS's response to Hamilton's child support modification action was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause under RCW 4.84.185; and (c) Hamilton prevailed against DCS in a judicial review of agency action under RCW 4.84.350.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Issue 1: Did the superior court err by awarding attorney fees under RCW 26.26.140, which applies only to parentage actions under RCW 26.26, when Hamilton filed a child support modification action under RCW 26.09?

RCW 26.23.035 permits the Division of Child Support to distribute child support it collects to someone other than the legal custodian if the legal custodian consents to the living arrangement. Through the principle of subrogation, RCW 74.20A.030 transfers the child's right to child support to the State when the State is supporting the child through public assistance.

¹ Attached as Appendix 1.

Issue 2: Under those statutes, was it frivolous for DCS to argue that it was entitled to retain child support paid by B.H.'s mother that was owed for time periods B.H. was supported by public assistance, and living with relatives, when Hamilton knew where B.H. was living, and repeatedly told state workers she could remain there?

DCS took action to assess Hamilton's child support obligation administratively. RCW 74.20A.055 authorizes DCS to establish support administratively when there is no court order setting a responsible parent's support obligation or relieving the parent from paying support. Because Hamilton preferred to proceed judicially, the administrative process was continued repeatedly to provide him that opportunity. The administrative hearing was dismissed after a superior court order was entered, without ever reaching the merits.

Issue 3: Under those facts, is Hamilton entitled to fees under RCW 4.84.350, which authorizes awards in judicial reviews of agency action, when he bypassed the administrative process by going directly to superior court, and no administrative record was ever filed or reviewed?

Issue 4: Even if Hamilton's complaint in superior court could be construed as a petition for judicial review of administrative action, did the superior court have subject matter jurisdiction to award fees when

Hamilton failed to invoke the appellate jurisdiction of the superior court by serving DSHS and the Shoots?

Issue 5: Even if Hamilton had satisfied the statutory requirements necessary to provide the court with subject matter jurisdiction over administrative actions by DSHS, were DCS's administrative actions to assess support substantially justified under RCW 74.20.055 when there was no court order setting Hamilton's support obligation or relieving him of this responsibility?

Issue 6: Even if attorney fees could be awarded under RCW 4.84.350, did the superior court err by failing to limit the award only to amounts incurred in judicial review of administrative action?

Issue 7: Even if attorney fees could be awarded under RCW 4.84.150 or RCW 4.84.350, did the court calculate them correctly when it (1) counted the same hours twice; (2) included hours for litigation that did not involve DCS; and (3) failed to limit the fees to those authorized by statute?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statutory Background

Whenever the Division of Child Support (DCS) receives an application for public assistance, or a request for child support enforcement services, it is required to take action to establish and enforce

parental support obligations. RCW 74.20.040. A parent's obligation to support his or her child is a basic tenet of society, and it is the parent's obligation that is primary rather than the taxpayers of this state. RCW 74.20A.010; *Lizotte v. Lizotte*, 15 Wn. App. 622, 626, 551 P.2d 137 (1976).

In the absence of a controlling superior court order, DCS has the authority to set child support obligations using an administrative process. RCW 74.20A.055. Administrative Law Judges (ALJ) are required to follow the same Washington State Child Support Schedule as superior court judges. RCW 26.19.035 (1).

This administrative process supplements the judicial one. *See DSHS v. Handy*, 62 Wn. App. 105, 813 P.2d 610 (1991). The Legislature created the administrative process because existing remedies had not "proven sufficiently effective or efficient to cope with the increasing incidence of financial dependency." RCW 74.20A.010. Specifically, the Legislature expressed concern about the workload of courts, prosecuting attorneys, and the attorney general, and wanted to provide a mechanism to make parental resources more immediately available to meet the needs of minor children. *Id.*

///

DCS's power to administratively establish child support is "liberally construed" so that "persons legally responsible for the care and support of children within the state [are] required to assume their legal obligations in order to reduce the financial cost to the State of Washington..." RCW 74.20.010. Fostering the administrative establishment of child support ensures that parents are required to meet the financial needs of their children and taxpayer resources are conserved. *Id*.

DCS is authorized to administratively establish the child support obligation of a parent when "there is no [court] order that establishes the responsible parent's support obligation or specifically relieves the responsible parent of a support obligation" RCW 74.20A.055(1).

A caregiver's failure to obtain legal custody does not insulate a parent from being required to pay child support. *Powers v. State Dep't of Social and Health Servs.*, 32 Wn. App. 310, 316, 648 P.2d 439 (1982) (mother's failure to obtain legal custody did not absolve father from his financial obligation or deprive DSHS of jurisdiction to set support). *See also Brown v. DSHS*, 136 Wn. App. 895, 896, 151 P.3d 235 (2007) (DCS has authority to set the mother's child support obligation administratively after son moved in with his father, even though court orders awarded custody to the mother and required the father to pay support).

B. Factual Background

In 1996, when B.H. was 3, a parentage order established James Hamilton as her father. CP at 5-7. A court awarded custody of B.H. to her mother, Michelle Baldwin, and Hamilton was required to pay child support. CP at 5. In 2007, when B.H. was 14, Hamilton became the primary residential parent and Baldwin was ordered to pay child support. CP at 9-15.

On July 5, 2010, a few months shy of B.H's 17th birthday, she ran away from Hamilton's home following a physical altercation with her stepmother. CP at 182, 236. B.H. claimed that her stepmother punched her, threw her to the ground, and pulled her hair after discovering that B.H's boyfriend had spent the night.² CP at 236, 238-39. B.H. fled to the home of her boyfriend's mother for two to three days and then moved to a homeless shelter for several weeks. CP at 236.

On July 26, 2010, B.H's aunt, Karen Shoot³, agreed to pick up B.H. from the homeless shelter. CP at 236. Shoot notified Child Protective Services (CPS) the next day about B.H's allegation of physical abuse and that B.H. was now staying with her and her husband. CP at 236, 238. B.H. told CPS that she did not want to return home. CP at 239.

A Child Protective Services worker confirmed there had been a physical altercation but concluded it did not rise to the level of physical abuse. CP at 240, 243.
 ³ Karen Shoot is married to the brother of B.H's stepfather, CP at 243.

CPS contacted Hamilton on August 4, 2010, and he gave permission for B.H. to stay in the Shoot home. CP at 236. CPS case notes show that when CPS contacted Hamilton again on August 10, 2010, Hamilton reaffirmed that B.H. could stay with the Shoots, although he preferred her to come home of her own volition. CP at 240. He also refused to provide any financial assistance to the Shoots, and said that he believed the Shoots would soon tire of B.H. and send her home. *Id.* Hamilton advised the CPS case worker that B.H. was covered by her biological mother's medical insurance and that the Shoots could obtain B.H.'s medical information from her. *Id.*

On August 12, 2010, the Shoots applied to DCS for non-assistance support enforcement services. CP at 251. As part of the application, Ms. Shoot declared that she did not wrongfully deprive Hamilton of physical custody of B.H. CP at 251, 254. She also stated that Hamilton gave her verbal permission to have physical custody of B.H. CP at 236. The Shoots provided additional documentation supporting their claim that B.H. was living with them and that Hamilton consented. CP at 233, 236-47. On August 13, 2010, the DCS support enforcement officer received a call from CPS verifying that B.H. was living with the Shoots. CP at 132. On August 25, 2010, the Shoots started receiving public assistance for B.H. CP at 251.

On September 2, 2010, a CPS worker again contacted Hamilton. Hamilton reported that when he last spoke with B.H. she screamed and cursed at him. CP at 241. Hamilton stated that he no longer wanted B.H. to come home. *Id.* The CPS worker informed Hamilton that the Shoots had shown an interest in pursuing third-party custody of B.H., to which Hamilton stated he would not sign legal custody over to anyone. *Id.* CPS offered Hamilton additional services related to B.H., which he declined. *Id.* The caseworker then closed the case because no family members were requesting reconciliation or other services. *Id.* Meanwhile, the Shoots enrolled B.H. in a nearby high school. CP at 243.

On September 6, 2010, after being served with child support paperwork, Hamilton reported B.H. as a missing person to the Pacific County Sheriff—even though he knew that she was living with the Shoots. CP at 138, 243. He told a CPS caseworker a few days later that B.H. could remain with the Shoots, but he was not going to pay any child support or sign any documents to make her life easy. CP at 243. The CPS caseworker concluded that B.H. did not want to return home and that Hamilton did not want to force her to do so. *Id*.

On September 23, 2010, DCS formally served Hamilton with notice that it would enforce his child support obligation established in the 1996 parentage order. CP at 135. Hamilton responded by claiming that

B.H. had lived with him in August and that he should not owe child support for that month. CP at 233. Hamilton's attorney subsequently asserted that the 1996 parentage order was unenforceable because it had been superseded by the 2007 order, which gave Hamilton legal custody and ended his support obligation. CP at 135.⁴ DCS agreed that the 1996 order was unenforceable. CP at 135, 233. DCS commenced efforts to establish Hamilton's support obligation administratively under RCW 74.20A.055 because the 2007 court order only addressed Baldwin's support obligation; it did not set Hamilton's obligation or expressly relieve him from paying support. CP at 9-15, 142-51.⁵

DCS had already been enforcing Baldwin's court-ordered child support obligation while B.H. was living with Hamilton and continued to do so. CP at 34-36. Because public assistance was now being expended for B.H.'s support, DCS stopped distributing these payments to Hamilton and kept them as reimbursement for its public assistance expenditures, as authorized in RCW 26.23.035. CP at 33.

///

⁴ Hamilton had not mentioned the 2007 order when responding to DCS. CP at 233.

⁵ DCS is authorized to set support administratively under RCW 74.20A.055(1) "if there is no order that establishes the responsible parent's child support obligation or specifically relieves the responsible parent of a support obligation…"

On November 18, 2010, Hamilton was personally served with notice that DCS planned to set his child support obligation administratively, as authorized in RCW 74.20A.055. CP at 142. He requested an administrative hearing to contest the notice. CP at 152. He later claimed in superior court that he had wrongfully been deprived of custody, which is an affirmative defense to being assessed a child support obligation under RCW 74.20.065; *see also* WAC 388-14A-3370(3). CP at 171-72.

On November 19, 2010, the Shoots filed a petition for third party custody in Snohomish County under RCW 26.10.⁶ That court dismissed the petition on December 20, 2010. Meanwhile, on November 22, 2010, Hamilton filed a Youth at Risk Petition⁷ in Pacific County under Cause No. 10-7-00059-3. CP at 118, 155-58. On December 9, 2010, the Pacific County Superior Court ordered B.H. to return to Hamilton's home after she completed the current semester at the high school in which she had enrolled. CP at 155-58. She has lived with Hamilton since December 18, 2010. CP at 90.

///

⁶ See case summary report for Snohomish County Superior Court Cause No. 10-3-02953-4, available at http://dw.courts.wa.gov/.

⁷ See RCW 13.32A.

The Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) originally scheduled an administrative hearing to set Hamilton's child support obligation for January 18, 2011. CP at 233. But OAH repeatedly continued the hearing at Hamilton's request because Hamilton wanted to have his child support obligation resolved judicially rather than administratively. CP at 184, 214, 233.

On January 20, 2011, Hamilton filed a petition in Pacific County Superior Court to modify the 2007 support order setting Baldwin's support obligation. CP at 1. Hamilton sought to increase Baldwin's monthly obligation and require her to pay post-secondary child support. CP at 1-3. Because Hamilton had resumed physical custody of B.H. and was **not** receiving public assistance, the State had no subrogated right to child support. Thus, DCS did not participate in litigation related to the modification petition. DCS's interest in the action was restricted to Hamilton's ancillary claim that he was entitled to child support previously paid by Baldwin for time periods B.H. was living with the Shoots and supported by public assistance. CP at 3. Hamilton's petition did not ask the court to relieve him from owing child support during the time B.H. was living with the Shoots and receiving public assistance. CP at 1-3.

///

On March 8, 2011, the superior court entered an order temporarily increasing Baldwin's child support obligation to \$764 per month beginning February 2011, and requiring both parents to pay for post-secondary support in an amount to be determined later. CP at 59, 61.

On July 20, 2011, Hamilton filed a motion for post-secondary education, medical reimbursement, attorney fees, and child support DCS had collected from Baldwin while B.H. was living with the Shoots and receiving public assistance. CP at 66-67. On August 19, 2011, the superior court approved Hamilton's and Baldwin's proposed order setting Baldwin's post-secondary support obligation at \$450 per month beginning September 2011. CP at 95-96; RP (August 19, 2011) at 2.

That same day, Hamilton and DCS presented arguments on Hamilton's motion requesting that DCS pay him the child support it had collected from Baldwin and kept as reimbursement for its public assistance expenditures, as authorized in RCW 26.23.035. CP at 67, 90; RP (August 19, 2011) at 2-30. Hamilton claimed that he was entitled to \$1,692 in child support because he was the legal custodian and the Shoots had engaged in custodial interference. CP at 90; RP (August 19, 2011)

///

///

. ///

at 5.8 Although DCS submitted no written opposition to the motion, DCS argued at the hearing there was no custodial interference, and that the State was entitled to keep Baldwin's support payments because B.H. was not living with Hamilton or being supported by him at that time. RP (August 19, 2011) at 10. The superior court ruled that Hamilton was entitled to child support from Baldwin because there was no court order allowing B.H. to live with the Shoots. RP (August 19, 2011) at 24. The superior court declined to hear testimony from a CPS caseworker that Hamilton consented to B.H. living with the Shoots, because it deemed this information irrelevant. RP (August 19, 2011) at 19-21.

Hamilton also requested \$2,500 in attorney fees to cover his efforts to contest the administrative enforcement action and recover child support DCS collected from Baldwin. RP (August 19, 2011) at 25; CP at 90; CP at 89-90. Hamilton did not cite any legal authority in support of the request. CP at 66-67, 89-90. The superior court granted Hamilton's attorney fees request, but limited the award to Hamilton's judicial efforts to obtain Baldwin's child support payments. RP (August 19, 2011) at 27.

⁸ The elements of custodial interference are set forth at RCW 9A.40.060 and 070. The Pacific County Prosecuting Attorney, Mr. David Burke, concluded the elements of custodial interference were not met and chose not to charge. RP (August 19, 2011) at 23-24. The superior court never made a finding of custodial interference. See RP (August 19, 2011) 1-31; CP at 155-57.

On October 28, 2011, the superior court entered a new support order, which largely mirrored earlier orders, setting Baldwin's support obligation. CP 105-113. In addition, the new support order directed DCS to pay Hamilton the \$1,674 in child support it had collected from Baldwin. CP at 63, 111. Hamilton and DCS agreed to include language in the order absolving Hamilton of any child support obligation during the time B.H. lived with the Shoots, even though this issue had not been pled or argued. CP at 111. Because Hamilton and DCS could not agree on the attorney fees issue, the superior court reserved this issue for further consideration. CP at 105, 112. Shortly after this, OAH dismissed the administrative proceedings to establish Hamilton's child support obligation because Hamilton's support obligation had been addressed judicially. CP at 233.

On January 12, 2011, Hamilton identified a legal basis for obtaining attorney fees. CP 116-26. He submitted briefing primarily relying on RCW 26.26.140, which authorizes fee awards against the State in parentage actions when the State has brought or defended a frivolous action. CP at 116-26. Hamilton argued that DCS's actions to assess

⁹ In February 2011, Hamilton filed a motion requesting several forms of relief, including a request that his support obligation to the State be set at zero. CP at 44. But he failed to serve DCS and dropped the issue in his later pleadings. CP at 64.

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