COURT OF APPEALS
2012 JUL 24 AM 11: 10
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY DEPUTY

NO.

43094-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Appellant,

V.

JAMES HAMILTON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kris Zabriskie Olson & Zabriskie, Inc. 104 West Marcy Avenue Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-6174

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Pacific County Superior Court did not err in entering the January 27, 2012 order awarding attorney's fees and judgment.

Our responses to the State's issues regarding assignment of error are set forth in the argument section of this brief.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Hamilton is the Respondent in this appeal. His daughter, Brittney, left his home in July of 2010 when she was 16 years old because she did not want to abide by the house rules so she ran away with a boyfriend. Before she left, there was a child support order in place providing that her mother, Michelle Johansen, pay the father, Mr. Hamilton, \$376.00 per month child support as the residential parent.

After staying at the boyfriend's family's home for a short time, Brittney left for a shelter in Aberdeen. Mr. Hamilton had hoped that she would tire of this nonsense and come home. The Shoots, who are not blood related to Brittney, took her into their residence and applied for public assistance on August 12th, 2010. Mr. Shoot is Brittney's mother's brother-in-law. Mr. Hamilton asked that his daughter be returned home,

he filed a runaway report, and he ultimately had to hire counsel and file a Youth at Risk Petition to get her home. Mr. Shoot refused to allow him to talk to his child. Below is a time line of events:

- 8-6-10 Mr. Hamilton discusses filing a missing person report with local police.
- 8-10-10 Brittney emails the Shoots saying that her father won't sign over custody of her to them. See Exhibit A to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 8-12-10 Karen Shoot signs declaration saying she did not wrongfully deprive the legal physical custodian of custody. See Exhibit B to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 8-27-10 State sends first Notice of Support Debt and Demand for Payment to Mr. Hamilton. State later acknowledges that the order they relied on was superseded.
- 8-13-10 State makes narrative document showing that the social workers confirmed that Karen Shoot was not a blood relative of Brittney, but rather an aunt through marriage. Narrative documents that Father will not sign anything to authorize Karen Shoot to have custody. See Exhibit C to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.

 8-14-10 Brittney calls her father wanting to enroll in school up north, Mr. Hamilton told her he wanted her home. Sworn testimony of father at Youth at Risk proceeding, December 3, 2010.

- 9-5-10 Conference Board decision issued by DSHS stating that the State was withdrawing its Notice of Support Debt and Demand for Payment that was served on Mr. Hamilton because it was based on an order that was no longer in effect. See Exhibit D to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 9-6-10 Mr. Hamilton files a missing person report. See Exhibit E to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 10-13-10 Letter comes from State Child Support Officer Blankenfeld noting Mr. Hamilton's objections to child support being assessed against him when he has an order placing the child in his custody.
- 10-20-10 Mr. Hamilton called to talk to Brittney and Mr. Shoot admitted under oath that he would not allow it. Testimony at Youth at Risk Hearing, December 9, 2010.
- 10-27-10 Mr. Hamilton's lawyer sends letter to J. Blankenfeld at Division of Child Support stating that Mr. Hamilton had filed run away child report and contesting Ms. Shoot's claim to custody. See Exhibit F to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees CP at 116-214.

 10-28-10 Letter from Hamilton's attorney to the Shoots advising that Mr. Hamilton believes they are committing the offense of harboring a run
- 11-18-10 State serves Mr. Hamilton with second Finding of Financial Responsibility. See Exhibit G to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.

away.

- 11-22-10 Hamilton files Youth at Risk Petition.
- 12-9-10 Court enters findings that the child was absent from the home without parental consent and the child was beyond parental control such that the child's behavior substantially endangered the health and safety and welfare of the child or another person. Order on Youth at Risk. See Exhibit H to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fee. CP at 116-214.
- 1-13-11 Father faxes Petition to modify to DCS and sends documents to Pacific County for filing. Memo came from DCS indicating Ms. Shoot failed to send copy of her filings in the administrative proceeding to counsel for Mr. Hamilton. See Exhibit I to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- <u>1-18-11</u> Administrative hearing takes place. Mr. Hamilton requests continuance. The Shoots oppose. Continuance granted.

Letters to Prosecutor advising of Administrative support issues and Shoots harboring a runaway. See Exhibit J to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.

- 1-28-11 Pacific County Prosecutor files Notice of Appearance to represent the State of Washington. See Exhibit K to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 3-8-11 Father notes hearing in Superior Court requesting State's motion for back support be denied among other things. See Exhibit L to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.

- 6-27-11 Administrative hearing continued. See Exhibit M to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214. Father filed second motion for determination of back support.
- 7-27-11 Agreed Order of Continuance. See Exhibit N to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 7-29-11 State Prosecutor, David Burke, requests continuance. See Exhibit O to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 9-1-11 Letter to Pacific County Prosecutor with itemization advising amount of legal fees as directed by the Court. See Exhibit P to

 Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 9-6-11 Administrative hearing continued awaiting State Prosecutor's approval of attorney's fees. See Exhibit Q to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.
- 9-16-11 Father notes up hearing to determine attorney's fees. See Exhibit R to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees CP at 116-214.
- 10-13-11 Administrative hearing reset. See Exhibit S to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.

The Shoots and Mr. Hamilton's daughter asked Mr. Hamilton for permission to enroll in school where they lived and he said no. The Shoots allowed her to do it anyway. It is the Respondent's position that the Shoots' actions met the statutory definition for the criminal act of

harboring a runaway. Mr. Hamilton filed a Youth at Risk Petition that was heard in the Pacific County Superior Court in December of 2010. The Superior Court ordered that Brittney return home. She has been in Mr. Hamilton's custody since December 2010. The Court decided that the child would be returned to her father's home as soon as school got out for the winter break so as not to disrupt the Brittney's accumulation of high school credit.

There was a Superior Court order that gave Mr. Hamilton custody & child support dated December 14, 2007. The State withheld the child support that the child's mother was ordered to pay to Mr. Hamilton to reimburse Shoot's public assistance grant for the child. This was in violation of the Superior Court order. The amount that was wrongfully withheld from Mr. Hamilton was \$1,692.00. The Pacific County Superior Court ordered that that amount be awarded to Mr. Hamilton in a judgment against the State of Washington, and that Mr. Hamilton be reimbursed for his attorney's fees in a reasonable amount as he had spent that amount and more trying to recover and to respond to administrative actions the State has taken.

The State filed its administrative action to establish child support against Mr. Hamilton in August 2011. By this time, Mr. Hamilton had reported to the authorities that his daughter was a run away and had gone to the police trying to get assistance in getting her back. He had called his daughter and the Shoots advising them that he wanted her home and that

she did not have his permission to enroll in another school. It is well documented that although Mr. Hamilton did not want to forcibly arrest his daughter to bring her home, he emphatically refused to sign over custody to the Shoots or to agree to payment of any support to the Shoots. See Exhibit A (Brittney's email) to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214 & see Exhibit C (State notes verifying father won't sign permission custody) to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214. Mr. Hamilton believed that Brittney's runaway adventure would come to a screeching halt before school started. Unfortunately, the Shoots interfered and gave her a place to escape her father's normal household rules.

IV. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

State's Issue 1: Did the Superior Court err by awarding attorney fees under RCW 26.26.140, which applies only to parentage actions under RCW 26.26 when Hamilton filed a child support modification action under RCW 26.09?

The Superior Court did not err by awarding attorney fees under RCW 26.26.140. RCW 26.26.140 provides that:

The court may order reasonable fees of experts and the child's guardian ad litem, and other costs of the action including blood or genetic test costs, to be paid by the parties in proportions and at times determined by the court. The court may order that all or a portion of a party's reasonable attorney's fees be paid by another party, except that an award of attorney's fees assessed against the state or any of its agencies or representatives shall be under RCW 4.84.185.

RCW 4.84.185 provides that:

in any civil action, the court having jurisdiction may, upon written findings by the judge that the action, counterclaim, cross-claim, third party claim, or defense was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause, require the non-prevailing party to pay the prevailing party the reasonable expenses, including fees of attorneys, incurred in opposing such action, counterclaim, cross-claim, third party claim, or defense. This determination shall be made upon motion by the prevailing party after a voluntary or involuntary order of dismissal, order on summary judgment, final judgment after trial, or other final order terminating the action as to the prevailing party. The judge shall consider all evidence presented at the time of the motion to determine whether the position of the non-prevailing party was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause. In no event may such motion be filed more than thirty days after entry of the order.

RCW 4.84.185

This matter is a parentage action. Mr. Hamilton was never married to Brittney's mother. It was originally filed as a parentage action under RCW 26.26.140 before this modification of support was filed. Even if the court found that RCW 26.26.140 did not apply, RCW 4.84.185 allows fees in <u>any</u> civil action where the defense was frivolous advanced without reasonable course.

State's Issue 2: Under those statutes, was it frivolous for DCS to argue that it was entitled to retain child support paid by Brittney's mother that was owed for time periods Brittney was supported by public assistance, and living with relatives, when Hamilton knew where Brittney was living, and repeatedly told state workers she could remain there?

RCW 4.84.185 allows attorney's fees if the action was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause. The State did act in a frivolous

manner in pursuing this child support action against Mr. Hamilton. The State first relied upon an old order that had been modified in pursuing an administrative action against him and then pursued an action against him despite the fact that they had knowledge that he was opposing the Shoots' custody of the child. The State also failed to obtain the statutorily required information from the Shoots, the parties applying for public assistance that gives them authority to pursue administrative support against the legal custodian.

RCW 26.23.035 (2) provides that:

the State may only distribute support payment to the payee under a support order or to another person who has lawful physical custody or has custody with the payee's consent, but prior to distributing this money to anyone other than the payee, the Support Registry must obtain a written statement from the child's physical custodian that

- 1. the custodian has lawful custody of the child or
- 2. custody with the payee's consent.

Se RCW 26.23.035

DCS may distribute support payments to the payee under the support order or to another person who has lawful physical custody of the child or custody with the payee's consent.

The payee here, Hamilton, did not consent to the Shoots having lawful custody of the child.

State's Issue 3: Under those facts, is Hamilton entitled to fees under RCW 4.84.350, which authorized awards in judicial review of agency action, when he bypassed the administrative process by going directly to superior court, and no administrative record was ever filed or reviewed.

Hamilton is entitled to fees under RCW 26.26.140 and RCW 4.84.185 previously cited. RCW 4.84.185 provides that the court may award the attorney's fees in "any civil action" upon findings that the party pursuing the action acted frivolously and advanced without reasonable cause.

State's Issue 4: Even if Hamilton's complaint in Superior Court could be construed as a petition for judicial review of administrative action, did the Superior Court have subject matter jurisdiction to award fees when Hamilton failed to invoke the appellate jurisdiction of the Superior Court by serving DSHS and the Shoots?

The Superior Court had subject matter jurisdiction to award

Hamilton fees. The State of Washington, Mr. Burke, did appear for the

State of Washington DSHS. The Shoots did not have custody of the child

under any legal order and did not have standing in this matter. Mr. Burke

did not object to subject matter jurisdiction.

State's Issue 5: Even if Hamilton had satisfied the statutory requirements necessary to provide the court with subject matter jurisdiction over administrative actions by DSHS, were DCS's administrative actions to assess support substantially justified under RCW 74.20.055 when there was no court order setting Hamilton's support obligation or relieving him of this responsibility?

DCS's administrative actions to assess support were not substantially justified under RCW 74.20.055. The state appears to be

arguing that Mr. Hamilton had an obligation to get an order relieving him of a child support obligation. This argument is not reasonable. He had an order for child support and was trying to enforce it. He has no duty to get an order relieving him of responsibility when he has an enforceable child support order.

State's Issue 6: Even if attorney fees could be awarded under RCW 4.84.350, did the Superior Court err by failing to limit the award only to amounts incurred in judicial review of administrative action?

The attorney's fees awarded under RCW 4.84.350 were limited to the fees Mr. Hamilton incurred as a result of the State's actions. These fees included his responses to the administrative actions, his attempt to obtain his normal child support that had already been ordered but that the State was withholding. A declaration and itemized fee statement was filed as Exhibit P to Memorandum Supporting Award of Attorney's Fees. CP at 116-214.

State's Issue 7: Even if attorney fees could be awarded under RCW 4.84.150 or RCW 4.84.350, did the court calculate them correctly when it (1) continued the same hours twice; (2) included hours for litigation that did not involve DCS; and (3) failed to limit the fees to those authorized by statute?

The attorney's fees that Mr. Hamilton incurred were reasonable and the fees that he billed and requested of the court were related to his actions in responding to the administrative modification petitions of DCS

and the State's continuing actions to prohibit him from obtaining reasonable attorney's fees and in obtaining an order to release his rightful child support from the State.

It is Mr. Hamilton's position that even the Youth at Risk Petition had to be filed partially as a result of the State's actions in supporting the Shoots' action to falsely pursue public assistance claims and a reimbursement action against him. The State is only allowed to distribute support payments to a public assistance custodian if the person has custody with the payee's consent. The State knew this was a contested action and did not have a written statement from the Shoots stating they had consent for custody.

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